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v.
COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE
AND OTHER EQUITABLE
RELIEF AND CIVIL MONETARY
PENALTIES UNDER THE
COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT

OPTIVER US, LLC, OPTIVER HOLDING BV,
OPTIVER VOF, CHRISTOPHER DOWSON,
BASTIAAN V AN KEMPEN, AND RANDAL MEIJER

Defendants.

J

alleges as follows: .

. i.

SUMMARY OF DEFENDANTS' MANIPULATION OF THE ENERGY MARKETS
AND VIOLATIONS OF THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT

1. In early 2007, Defendants Optiver US, LLC ("Optiver"), Optiver Holding BV

C'"Optiver Holding"), and Optiver VOF C'Optiver VOF") - the U.S. and Netherlards branches of

a global proprietar trading fund headquartered in the Netherlands - developed and, in March

2007, implemented a scheme to manipulate the price of futures contracts in Light Sweet Crude

Oil, New York Harbor Heating Oil, and New York Harbor Gasoline on the New York

Mercantile Exchange C'"NYMEX").

2. On at least 19 separate instances during the month of March 2007, Optiver,

Optiver Holding, and Optiver VOF, led by head traders, Defendant Chrstopher Dowson

C'Dowson") and Defendant Randal Meijer ('"Meijer"), repeatedly attempted to manipulate

market prices - or in Dowson's own words, "'bully the market" - for the above-referenced energy



futures contracts towards the end of the trading day. The manipulative strategy employed by

Defendants Optiver, Optiver Holding, Optiver VOF, Dowson, Meijer and Bastiaan Van Kempen

(together, either acting directly or in their capacity as controlling persons or principals liable for

the acts of their agents as described more specifically below, "Defendants") is commonly known

as "banging the close" or "marking the close."

3. On at least five of the nineteen instances, Defendants succeeded in their

manipulative scheme by causing artificial prices in certain of these energy futures contracts,

resulting in serious harm to other market participants and, ultimately, to the public at large.

4. The Defendants' scheme involved trading a large volume of Crude Oil, Heating

Oil, and New Yark Harbor Gasoline futues contracts to manipulate the futures prices for these

contracts, including the settlement price which is based on the volume weighted average price

(the "VW AP") of trades during the two minutes prior to the 2:30 PM closing bell (the "Close").

5. Defendants developed a scheme by which Optiver, having accumulated a large

net TAS (defined below) position, traded a significant volume of futures contracts in the opposite

direction, before and during the Close, with the goal to improperly influence and affect the price

of futures contracts in Crude Oil, Heating Oil, and New York Harbor Gasoline.

6. Defendants' strategy was to execute approximately 20-30% of Optiver's futures

trades just before the Close and the remainder during the Close.

.7. Having accumulated a large net TAS position during the trading day, Defendants

intended to - and on several occasions did - implement this strategy to trade a large number of

futures contracts in the opposite direction just prior to and during the Close, thereby exercising

their market power to improperly influence and affect the price of futures contracts in a desired

direction.
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8. The Defendants' intent is well documented by their own emails and phone

recordings which discuss their efforts to "hammer," "influence," "push," "move," "whack," and

"bully" the prices of futures contracts in Crude Oil, Heating Oil and New York Harbor Gasoline.

9. As a result of the manipulative trading scheme, Optiver reaped profits of over

$1 million.

10. As is more fully alleged below, Optiver by and through its employees and agents,

including, but not limited to, Defendants Dowson and Bastiaan van Kempen ("van Kempen"),

Chief Executive Offcer ofOptiver, along with Optiver VOF, Optiver Holding, and Meijer,

engaged in a scheme of price manipulation that violated the Commodity Exchange Act, as

amended (the "Act"), 7 US.C. §§ 1, et seq. (2006).

11. As more fully described below, Defendants Optiver, Dowson, and Meijer violated

Sections 6(c), 6(d) and 9(a)(2) of the Act, 7 US.C. §§ 9, 13b, and 13(a)(2).

12. At all relevant times, Dowson, Meijer, and van Kempen, each had control over

Optiver and the actions of its agents and employees who executed the manipulative scheme.

Accordingly, Dowson, Meijer, and van Kempen, are each liable for Optiver's violations of the

Act alleged herein, pursuant to Seçtion 13(b) of the Act, 7 US.C. § 13c(b).

13. Optiver, Optiver Holding, and Optiver VOF are also liable for violating Sections

6(c), 6(d), and 9(a)(2) ofthe Act pursuant to Section 2(a)(l)(B) of the Act, 7 US.C. § 2(a)(1)(B),

by virtue of the acts of their officials, agents, or other persons acting within the scope of their

employment or office, including Defendants Dowson and Meijer.

14. Furthermore, on or about March 26,2007, Optiver and van Kempen, in a

communication with NYEX, willfully falsified, concealed, or covered up by trick, scheme or
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artifice a material fact or made false, fictitious, or fraudulent statements or representations in

violation of Section 9(a)(4) of the Act, 7 US.c. § 13(a)(4).

l5. Accordingly, pursuant to Section 6c of the Act, 7 US.C. § 13a-l, Plaintiff brings

this action to enjoin such acts and practices, and compel compliance with the Act. In addition,

Plaintiff seeks civil monetary penalties and such other equitable and ancilary relief as the Court

deems necessary or appròpriate under the circumstances.

16. Unless restrained and enjoined by this Court, there is a reasonable likelihood that

Defendants will continue to engage in the acts and practices alleged in this Complaint or similar

acts and practices, as is more fully described below.

II.
JURISDICTION AND VENUE

17. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Section 6c of the Act, 7 US.c. § 13 a- 1,

which authorizes the CFTC to seek injunctive relief against any person, or to enforce compliance

with the Act, whenever it shall appear to the CFTC that such person has engaged, is engaging, or

is about to engage in any act or practice constituting a violation of any provision of the Act or

any rule, regulation or order thereunder.

18. Venue lies properly with this Court pursuant to Section 6c(e) of the Act, 7 US.C.

§ 13a-l(e), in that Defendants transacted business within this District, and the acts and practices

in violation of the Act occurred within this District.

III.
THE PARTIES

A. PLAINTIFF COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION

19. The Commodity Futures Trading Commission ("CFTC") is an independent

federal regulatory agency that is charged with the responsibility for administering and enforcing

the provisions of the Act, 7 US.C. §§ 1 et seq., and the regulations promulgated thereunder, 17
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C.F.R. §§ 1 et seq. One of its core responsibilities is to protect the public interest by deterrng

and preventing price manipulations of the commodity markets or futures markets, or other

disruptions to market integrity. Section 3(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 5(b).

B. DEFENDANT OPTIVER

20. Optiver is an Ilinois company, founded in 2003, with its principal place of

business at 130 E. Randolph Street, Suite 1300, Chicago IL 60601.

21. Optiver is a wholly owned subsidiary ofOptra Curacao, which is wholly owned

by Optiver Holding.

22. Optiver trades commodity futures, options on commodity futures, stocks, and

stock options, listed on organized exchanges in the United States, including, among others,

NYEX and the New York Stock Exchange.

C. DEFENDANT OPTIVER HOLDING

23. Optiver Holding is a Netherlands corporation, with its principal place of business

at De Ru yterkade 1 12, 101 1 AB Amsterdam, The Netherlands, which engages in trading activity

through its subsidiary companies including Optiver and Optiver VOF, among others.

24. Optiver Holding manages the activities of its subsidiary companies including

Optiver and Optiver VOF through its Global Management Board (the "Global Management

Board").

25. In practice, two-thirds of the profits ofOptiver and Optiver VOF are distributed to

Optiver Holding, and the remaining one-third is distributed among the other partners ofOptiver

VOF.

D. DEFENDANT OPTIVER VOF

26. Optiver VOF is a Netherlands general parnership with its principal place of

business at De Ruyterkade 112, 1011 AB Amsterdam, The Netherlands.
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27. Optiver VOF is comprised of various partners, including Defendant Optiver

Holding, (through its wholly owned subsidiary Optiver BV), and Defendants Dowson, Meijer,

and van Kempen (through their respective wholly owned companies, Cobblestones LLC, Randal

Derivatives BV, and Platinum Options BV).

E. DEFENDANT CHRISTOPHER DOWSON

28. Dowson is a citizen of the United Kingdom, currently residing in Chicago,

Ilinois.

29. Dowson began working for Optiver VOF in September 2000 as an equities trader.

30. In or about October 2006, Defendant Dowson began to spend time at Optiver, in

Chicago.

31. In or about January 2007, Defendant Dowson moved to Chicago and became the

Head of Trading for Optiver.

32. Beginning in or about January 2007, Defendant Dowson became, and was at all

relevant times thereafter, responsible for Optiver's trading of, among other things, commodity

futures, including Crude Oil, Heating Oil, and New York Harbor Gasoline.

33. While Defendant Dowson was employed by Optiver and maintained a partnership

interest in Optiver VOF, he participated in the development and execution of a manipulative

trading strategy for the purpose of moving prices of certain NYEX energy futures. Defendant

Dowson participated in and directed other Optiver traders, including but not limited to Ferhad

Mekic ("Mekic"), in carrng out the manipulative trading scheme, as more fully described

below.

34. For 2007, Defendant Dowson received approximately $100,000 US. in salary and

approximately €1,700,000 based on his partnership share in Optiver VOF.
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F. DEFENDANT BASTIAAN V AN KEMPEN

35. Defendant van Kempen is a Dutch citizen, currently residing in Chicago, Ilinois.

36. Defendant van Kempen began working at Optiver Holding in Amsterdam in or

about October 1998, first as a trader and later as a director.

37. In or about 2001, Defendant van Kempen moved to Chicago as the head of

trading for Optiver's newly opened Chicago office.

38. In or about 2003, Defendant van Kempen became the Chief Executive Offcer of

Optiver, and has maintained that position to the present date.

39. At all relevant times, and as set forth below, Defendants van Kempen and

Dowson jointly managed Optiver.

40. Defendant van Kempen participated in the development of the manipulative

strategy referenced herewith.

41. Defendant van Kempen participated in strategic discussions and monitored the

trading activity at Optiver as the manipulative scheme was being implemented.

42. Defendant van Kempen also instructed Optiver's traders in executing the strategy.

43. Defendant van Kempen is, and was at all relevant times, generally responsible for

Optiver's business operations and relationships with exchanges and other third-parties.

44. Defendant van Kempen's base salary was approximately $55,000 US. and in

2007 he received approximately USD $1,600,000 from his partnership share in Optiver VOF.

G. DEFENDANT RADAL MEIJER

45. Defendant Meijer is, and was at all relevant times, the Head of Trading,

supervising the trading activity of each ofOptiver Holdings' subsidiaries, including Optiver and

Optiver VOF.
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46. Defendant Meijer is one of five members ofOptiver Holdings' Global

Management Board, which oversees Optiver, Optiver VOF and other affiliated entities.

47. Defendant Meijer worked closely with Dowson to develop, refine and carr out

the manipulative trading strategy.

48. Defendant Meijer approved the manipulative strategy, with the understanding that

Optiver would have the necessary influence and would be able to "control the VW AP."

49. Defendant Meijer also directed the execution of the strategy by Optiver's traders,

including, but not limited to one trader, in particular, whom Meijer instructed to make sure he is

"trading big enough."

50. In or about 2007, Defendant Meijer received approximately €1,700,000 from his

partnership share in Optiver VOF and shareholding dividends from Optiver Holding.

iv.
OTHER RELEVANT ENTITIES

H. NYMEX: THE EXCHANGE AND THE PRODUCTS ON WHICH
DEFENDANTS PERPETRATED THE MANIPULATIVE TRADING
SCHEME

51. According to the NYEX website, NYEX "is the worlds' largest physical

commodity futures exchange and the preeminent trading forum for energy and precious metals."

52. NYMEX is located at One North End Avenue, New York, NY.

53. NYEX is a designated contract market under Section 5(b) of the Act, 7 US.c. §

7(b), and Commission Regulations 38.3(a)(I)(ii) and (iii).

54. Commodity futures contracts are traded on exchanges, such as NYMEX, which

provide a physical or electronic facility in which multiple market participants have the ability to

execute or trade such futures contracts by accepting bids and offers made by other market

participants, with prices displayed for all to see.
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55. Prices for transactions on NYMEX are continuously reported during the trading

day.

56. The prices displayed on the floor of the Exchange and on its electronic platforms

are disseminated to information vendors and news services worldwide.

57. Settlement prices for NYMEX contracts are reported daily.

58. NYEX also reports trading volume and open interest on a daily basis.

59. NYEX prices are used as global benchmarks for a variety of energy markets;

accordingly it isparamount that the markets have confidence in the integrty of these

transactions.

(i) THE NYMEX ENERGY FUTURES TARGETED BY DEFENDANTS'
MANIPULATIVE TRAING STRATEGY

60. As part of its energy complex, NYEX offers commodity futures contracts in

Light Sweet Crude Oil ("Crude Oil" or "CL"), New York Harbor Heating Oil ("HO"), and New

York Harbor Reformulated Gasoline Blendstock ('"New York Harbor Gasoline" or "RBOB").

61. For purposes of this complaint, a commodity futures contract is an agreement to

purchase or sell a commodity for delivery in the future at a price that is determined at initiation

ofthe contract, that obligates each party to the contract to fulfill the contract at the specified

price, that is used to assume or shift price risk, and that may be satisfied by delivery or offset.

62. As more fully alleged below, Defendants' trading involved three energy contracts

onNYEX.

63. The NYMEX Crude Oil futures contract trades in units of 1,000 US. barrels

(42,000 gallons) of West Texas Intermediate light sweet crude oil ("WTI"), and the delivery

point is Cushing, Oklahoma.
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64. The price for the NYMEX Crude Oil contract is quoted in US. dollars and cents

per barrel and the minimum price fluctuation (also known as one "tick") is $0.01 (lt) per barrel

($10.00 per contract).

65. The NYMEX Heating Oil futures contract trades in units of 42,000 gallons

(1,000 US. barrels) and is based on delivery in New York harbor, which is the principal cash

market trading center.

66. The price for the NYMEX Heating Oil contract is quoted in US. dollars and cents

per gallon and the minimum price fluctuation (or one "tick") is $0.0001 (O.Olt) per gallon ($4.20

per contract).

67. The NYEX New York Harbor Gasoline futures contract trades in units of

42,000 gallons (1,000 U.S. barrels) and is based on delivery at petroleum products terminals in

the New York harbor.

68. New York Harbor Gasoline is a wholesale non-oxygenated blendstock traded in

the New York Harbor barge market.

69. The price for the NYMEX New York Harbor Gasoline contract is quoted in US.

dollars and cents per gallon and the minimum price fluctuation (or one "tick") is $0.0001 (O.Olt) .

per gallon ($4.20 per contract).

70. Unless otherwise noted, all futures contracts referenced herein are contracts for

delivery in April 2007.

71. The NYMEX Crude Oil, Heating Oil, and New York Harbor Gasoline futures and

TAS contracts may be traded on the NYEX trading floor by open outcry trading, from 9:00

AM until 2:30 PM, and may be traded electronically on Globex (described below) from 6:00 PM

the previous calendar day until 2:30 PM.
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72. In accordance with NYMEX rules, the Crude Oil, Heating Oil, and New York

Harbor Gasoline futures contracts, in certain circumstances, also may be traded in a two-minute

trading session, which takes place after the close of trading (the "Post-Close").

73. NYMEX also permits traders to purchase and sell Crude Oil, Heating Oil, and

New York Harbor Gasoline via its "Trading at Settlement" or "TAS" procedure.

7 4. T AS contracts are futures contracts, except that the parties determine at the

initiation of the contract that the price will be the day's settlement price plus or minus an agreed

differentiaL.

75. A TAS contract which has been bought or sold can be offset by trading a futures

contract in the opposite direction.

76. A TAS contract is available for trading for the front two months (i.e. the

upcoming delivery month and the following delivery month), except on the last trading day for

the underlying futures.

77. A TAS contract is priced either at par or based on a differential (plus or minus) in

points off settlement in the underlying cleared product.

78. A TAS trade done at the price of 100 will clear exactly at the final settement

price of the day.

79. The maximum differential for a TAS contract is 10 "points" or "ticks" from the

settlement; i.e., T AS contracts are bought and sold in a range from 1 10 to 90. One point or tick

in a TAS contract corresponds to the minimum price fluctuation in the underlying future.

80. Bec;ause T AS contracts are priced according to the settlement price for the

underlying futures, if a trader with a T AS position can successfully trade futures in the opposite

direction, such that the average price of its futures trades is equal to the final settlement price, the
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price of the futures trades would equal the price of the TAS trades - adjusting for any

differentiaL.

81. A trader can profit by buying and selling T AS contracts, making money on the

difference in price; this activity is known as "scalping."

82. In addition, a trader can make a profit by either selling TAS contracts for a

premium (101 or above) or buying for a discount (99 or below) and subsequently trading futures

in the opposite direction for an average price equal to or better than the settlement price.

83.

April 2007.

(ii)

84.

85.

Unless otherwise noted, all TAS contracts referenced herein are contracts for

THE SETTLEMENT PROCESS

The settlement of futures contracts is subject to rules promulgated by NYMEX.

The settlement price is the price established by the NYEX settlement committee

at the close of each trading session as the offcial price to be used by the clearinghouse in

determining net gains or losses, margin requirements, and the next day's price limits.

86. In accordance with NYEX rules and procedures, at all relevant times, the

settlement price for the April 2007 futures contracts in Crude Oil, New York Gasoline, and

Heating Oil was derived by calculating the volume weighted average of the prices, referred to as

the VW AP, at which trades were conducted during the Close, i.e., from 2:28 to 2:30 PM.

87. All times referenced herein are Eastern Time unless noted otherwise.

88. The VW AP includes both electronic trading activity and floor trading activity.

89. The final determination as to a settlement price is made by the Settlement Price

Committee. The Settlement Price Committee includes a NYEX employee, who has final

authority in determining the settlement price of the Crude Oil, Heating Oil and New York Harbor

Gasoline Futures Contracts.
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(iii) NYMEX PROHIBITS THE USE OFTAS POSITIONS AS A WAY TO
MANIPULATE THE SETTLEMENT PRICE

90. On or about October 19, 2006, NYMEX issued a compliance advisory:

Compliance Advisory: Disruptive Use ofTAS and MO Trading
Practices

Members are reminded that misuse of TAS or MO trades to
acquire a position in order to unfairly affect a settlement price
subject (sic J the member and/or the customer to disciplinary
action for any of a number of rule violations including but not
limited to attempted price manipulation, disruptive trading, wash
trading, or conduct substantially detrimental to the exchange,
investigation of suspected manipulative pricing involving T AS
wil focus on the percentage of TAS positions acquired by a
trader, group or traders or customer(s) and whether the offset of
that position during the close was disruptive, collusive, and or
caused or attempted to cause aberrant price movement in the
close.

NYMEX Notice No. 548 (10/1912006), available at

http://ww.nymex.com/notice_to _ member.aspx?id=ntm548&archive=2006 (emphasis added).

91. The October 19, 2006 NYEX Compliance Advisory was available to the public

on NYEX's website at all relevant times.

i. GLOBEX: THE TRAING PLATFORM USED IN DEFENDANTS'
MANIPULATIVE TRAING SCHEME

92. NYMEX is a party to a technology services agreement between NYEX and

CME Group, pursuant to which electronic trades of certain NYEX products take place on the

CME/Globex trading platform ('"Globex").

93. Globex is an electronic trading platform on which customers can directly place

trades.

94. NYEX products, including the Crude Oil, Heating Oil, and New York Harbor

Gasoline futures and TAS contracts are available to be traded via Globex.
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